THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FAIRFIELD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Carol A. Tolen, Special Referee
Trial Court Case No. 2012-CP-20-00132

Appellate Case No. 2018-000230

RECEIVED
APR 18 2018
SC Court of Appeals

ArrowPointe Federal Credit Union, Respondent,

v.

Jimmy Eugene Bailey; Laura Jean Bailey; and U.S. Bank National Association not in its individual capacity but solely in its capacity as Indenture Trustee for WVUE 2015-1, Defendants,

Of which U.S. Bank National Association not in its individual capacity but solely in its capacity as Indenture Trustee for WVUE 2015-1 is the Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. WHETHER THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERRED IN HOLDING THAT SOUTH CAROLINA DOES NOT AND SHOULD NOT RECOGNIZE THE DOCTRINE OF REPLACEMENT MORTGAGE AS FORECASTED IN THE SUPREME COURT'S MATRIX FINANCIAL SERVICES, CORP. V. FRAZER OPINION AND AS ESPOUSED IN THE RESTATEMENT THIRD OF PROPERTY.

II. WHETHER THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERRED IN HOLDING THAT RESPONDENT WAS MATERIALLY PREJUDICED BY THE APPELLANT'S MORTGAGE WHEN RESPONDENT WAS ON RECORD NOTICE THAT THE AMOUNT SECURED BY APPELLANT'S MORTGAGE COULD INCREASE.

III. WHETHER THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE EXISTENCE OF SOME MATERIAL PREJUDICE NECESSARILY DEFEATS THE PRIORITY OF THE REPLACEMENT MORTGAGE AND CANNOT BE CURED BY A REDUCTION OF THE EXTENT OF THE REPLACEMENT MORTGAGE'S LIEN PRIORITY.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the Special Referee's Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and Order of Foreclosure ("Order") dated January 18, 2018 in favor of ArrowPointe Federal Credit Union ("ArrowPointe"). The basis of the appeal of U.S. Bank National Association not in its individual capacity but solely in its capacity as Indenture Trustee for WVUE 2015-1 ("U.S. Bank") involves the Special Referee's grant of lien priority in favor of ArrowPointe in the Order.

The underlying civil action commenced on March 27, 2012 in the Fairfield County Court of Common Pleas, Case No. 2012-CP-20-00132. ArrowPointe filed a Lis Pendens, Summons and Complaint seeking to foreclose a Revolving Credit Mortgage ("Revolving Credit Mortgage") given by Jimmy E. Bailey and Laura Jean Bailey ("Baileys") to ArrowPointe. The real property subject to the foreclosure action is commonly known as 247 Morninglow Drive, Winnsboro, South Carolina ("Subject Property").

ArrowPointe named the Baileys and JPMorgan Chase Bank ("Chase") as Defendants. Chase held a mortgage given by the Baileys to Quicken Loans ("Replacement Mortgage") when ArrowPointe filed the underlying action. On May 14, 2012, Chase filed an Answer and Counterclaim, alleging, in part, that the Replacement Mortgage held a senior lien priority position ahead of the ArrowPoint Mortgage. On September 5, 2012, a Consent Order of Reference was entered into by Chase and ArrowPointe referring the action to Carol A. Tolen, as Special Referee for Fairfield County.

The Replacement Mortgage and the loan it secures have been assigned to several different lenders during the course of the underlying lawsuit and this appeal. Chase assigned the Replacement Mortgage back to its original holder Quicken Loans, Inc. ("Quicken"), and the

Circuit Court entered a Consent Order Substituting Real Party in Interest and Amending Caption on October 17, 2013.

Chase filed a Notice of Motion and Motion for Summary Judgment with supporting affidavits concerning the lien priority issue on July 24, 2013. ArrowPointe filed a Memorandum in Opposition on September 17, 2013. The Special Referee heard oral arguments on September 19, 2013, and allowed the parties additional time to submit written memorandum for her consideration after the hearing. Chase filed a Memorandum in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment on October 2, 2013.

After an unusually-long period between oral arguments and ruling, the Court denied Chase's Motion for Summary Judgment by order dated March 19, 2015 and filed on April 2, 2015. Quicken, who held the Replacement Mortgage by the time of the decision in 2015, served a Motion for Reconsideration on April 10, 2015. The Court heard oral arguments on the Motion for Reconsideration on May 26, 2015. Though a written order does not appear to have been filed, the Special Referee denied the Motion at the hearing and after arguments [Page 17; Line 11; Motion for Reconsideration Hearing Transcript].

Quicken assigned the Chase Mortgage to DLJ Mortgage Capital, Inc., ("DLJ"), and the court entered an Order Substituting Defendant, Amending Caption, and Permitting Amendment on January 21, 2016. On January 29, 2016, DLJ filed a Lis Pendens, Amended Answer, Counterclaim, and Cross-Claim, seeking foreclosure of the Replacement Mortgage and a declaration that its Replacement Mortgage was senior in priority under the replacement mortgage doctrine or, alternatively, equitable subrogation. DLJ assigned the Replacement Mortgage to U.S. Bank, and on March 16, 2018, the Court entered the Order substituting U.S. Bank for DLJ.

The Baileys did not appear in the action and were held in default. Neither U.S. Bank nor ArrowPointe sought a deficiency judgment.

ArrowPointe served a Motion for Summary Judgment concerning the lien priority issue on October 12, 2016 along with supporting memorandum. DLJ filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment on March 13, 2017.

DLJ and ArrowPointe filed a Joint Stipulation on March 13, 2017. The Special Referee heard oral arguments on ArrowPointe's summary judgment motion on that same day. The Joint Stipulation and its exhibits were entered into the record at the hearing and recorded that same day. At the same hearing, the Special Referee also heard an uncontested motion to substitute U.S. Bank as the real party in interest for DLJ, as well as uncontested testimony from both U.S. Bank and ArrowPointe on the respective debt of their loans, as well as their rights to foreclose their mortgages.

The Special Referee signed the Order on January 18, 2018. The Order held, among other things, that ArrowPointe's Revolving Credit Mortgage held priority over U.S. Bank's Replacement Mortgage and that the Revolving Credit Mortgage could be foreclosed. The Order also substituted U.S. Bank¹ as the real party in interest and established debt figures for both the ArrowPointe loan and the U.S. Bank loan. U.S. Bank's counsel received notice of the Order on January 22, 2018, and filed and served its Notice of Appeal on February 16, 2018. On March 16, 2018, Appellant served a Motion for Superseadas seeking the stay of the sale of the Subject Property during pendency of the instant appeal².

¹ It has come to U.S. Bank's counsel's attention that the Replacement Mortgage and the loan it secures has recently been assigned to a new lender, the particular details of which are still forthcoming.

² As of the filing of this Initial Brief, the lower court has not set a hearing or ruled on U.S. Bank's Motion for Superseadas.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

U.S. Bank and ArrowPointe agree on the facts in the underlying case as illustrated in the Joint Stipulation.

The Baileys hold title to Subject Property and have owned it during all relevant times in this matter [Joint Stipulation 1]. The Baileys gave a mortgage to Quicken that was recorded on October 15, 2009 (the “Replaced Mortgage”) [Joint Stipulation 2 and Exhibit A of the Joint Stipulation]. The Replaced Mortgage was in a senior lien priority position on the Subject Property at the time of its recording. Id.

The Replaced Mortgage secured a Note in the principal amount of \$256,500.00, plus interest (“Replaced Note”) [Id. and Joint Stipulation 3]. Additionally, the “Transfer of Rights in the Property” section of the recorded First Mortgage, states “This Security Instrument secures to Lender: (i) the repayment of the Loan, and all renewals, extensions and modifications of the Note . . .”. Id.

Subsequently, the Baileys gave ArrowPointe the Revolving Credit Mortgage securing an Open-End Home Equity Credit Agreement in the principal amount of \$99,000.00 to make improvements and additions to their home on the Subject Property [Joint Stipulation 5, 6 and Exhibits C - I]. The Revolving Credit Mortgage was duly recorded on November 4, 2009. Id.

When ArrowPointe obtained the Revolving Credit Mortgage from the Baileys, the parties to the transaction intended that the Revolving Credit Mortgage be a junior mortgage on the Subject Property second in lien priority position behind the Replaced Mortgage [Joint Stipulation 13].

The Baileys then entered into a subsequent loan transaction with Quicken, its successors and assigns, on November 23, 2009 [Joint Stipulation 14 and Exhibit J, K, L and P of the Joint Stipulation]. The Baileys obtained a new loan from Quicken through a Note in the principal

amount of \$296,000.00 plus interest in this transaction (“Replacement Note”). Id. The proceeds from the Replacement Note were used to pay off the loan secured by the Replaced Mortgage in the amount of \$257,459.04. Id. As part of the same transaction, the senior Replaced Mortgage was released of record, and then a new mortgage in favor of Quicken was recorded, the Replacement Mortgage. Id. The Replaced Mortgage was of record at all times until the Replacement Mortgage was recorded on December 15, 2009. Id. Quicken intended that the Replacement Mortgage replace the Mortgage and retain Quicken’s senior lien position. Id.

A licensed South Carolina attorney, Stacey E Besser f/k/a Stacey Pope Gardner, supervised the loan closing for the Replacement Mortgage [Joint Stipulation 16]. Attorney Besser witnessed and notarized the Replacement Mortgage. Id. Attorney Besser remains licensed and in good standing with the South Carolina Bar in the present day. Id.

Quicken did not have actual knowledge that the Revolving Credit Mortgage existed at the time it conducted the Replacement Mortgage transaction. [Joint Stipulation 17]. Quicken was on record notice of the Revolving Credit Mortgage at the time it conducted the Replacement Mortgage transaction. Id. During the Replacement Mortgage transaction, the Baileys executed a Title Company Client Acknowledgment that represented by affidavit that “there are no outstanding home improvement loans, mortgages, deeds of trust, or equity lines of credit, recorded or unrecorded” other than the Replaced Mortgage [Joint Stipulation 17 and Exhibit K of Joint Stipulation]. The Baileys misrepresented the truth when they told Quicken that there are no equity lines of credit secured by the Subject Property [Joint Stipulation 17].

Thereafter, the Replacement Mortgage went through a series of assignments [Statement of the Case, supra, and Joint Stipulation 19 and Exhibits M-O in Joint Stipulation]. U.S. Bank’s debt on the Replacement Note secured by the Replacement Mortgage was \$436,609.23, as of March

13, 2017, with amounts of the debt continuing to accrue as stated in the Order [Order at ¶9 and Joint Stipulation 27 and Exhibit V to the Joint Stipulation]. ArrowPointe's debt on its note secured by the Revolving Credit Mortgage is \$187,201.60 as of March 13, 2017 with amounts of the debt continuing to accrue as stated in the Order [Order at ¶5 and Joint Stipulation 29 and Exhibit X to the Joint Stipulation].

ArrowPointe continued to believe that it was in junior lien position until July 2011 when it discovered the Replacement Mortgage had replaced the Replaced Mortgage [Joint Stipulation 13 and Rule 30(b)(6) ArrowPointe Deposition Transcript of James R. Price, P. 48, Lines 20-23].

Standard of Review

“An action to establish lien priorities is an action in equity.” Friarsgate, Inc. v. First Federal Sav. & Loan Ass'n, 317 S.C. 452, 456, 454 S.E.2d 901, 904 (Ct. App. 1995). In an action in equity referred to a master or special referee for final judgment with direct appeal to the Court of Appeals, the appellate court may view the evidence to determine facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, though it is not required to disregard the findings of the master or special referee. Id.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT SOUTH CAROLINA DOES NOT AND SHOULD NOT RECOGNIZE THE DOCTRINE OF REPLACEMENT MORTGAGE.

The doctrine of Replacement Mortgage presents a legal issue that South Carolina appellate courts have not yet ruled upon. See Matrix Financial Services Corp. v. Frazer, 394 S.C. 134, 138, 714 S.E.2d 532, 534 (2011) (holding “We do not decide whether a lender that refinances its own debt could attain priority under the theory of replacement and modification illustrated in section

7.3 of the Restatement (Third) of Property (Mortgages)”). The underlying case presents an opportunity to make such a determination.

The Baileys entered into three successive financing transactions. Quicken recorded the Replaced Mortgage on October 15, 2009. ArrowPointe recorded the Revolving Credit Mortgage on November 4, 2009. Quicken recorded the Replacement Mortgage on December 15, 2009. U.S. Bank now holds the Replacement Mortgage. Applying the stipulated facts to the legal principles espoused in the Restatement (Third) of Property (Mortgages), in South Carolina case law and common law, and in other jurisdictions, this Court should reverse the trial court by applying the doctrine of Replacement Mortgage and ordering foreclosure and sale of the Subject Property in favor of U.S. Bank.

a. THE RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF PROPERTY (MORTGAGES) SUPPORTS THE DOCTRINE OF REPLACEMENT MORTGAGE.

The Restatement (Third) of Property recognizes the Replacement of Senior Mortgages and its effect on intervening interests as follows:

(a) If a senior mortgage is released of record and, as part of the same transaction, is replaced with a new mortgage, the latter mortgage retains the same priority as its predecessor, except

(1) to the extent that any change in the terms of the mortgage or the obligation it secures is materially prejudicial to the holder of a junior interest in the real estate, or

(2) to the extent that one who is protected by the recording act acquires an interest in the real estate at a time that the senior mortgage is not of record.

See Restatement (Third) of Property (Mortgages) § 7.3 (1997).

The Comments to this Restatement section acknowledge that the replacement of senior mortgages is commonplace in lending transactions involving real property. See Id. at cmt. a. Further, the commentators state that “[r]equiring the consent of junior interests for such transactions might deny the parties needed flexibility in dealing with changing economic and business conditions. This section aims at resolving those problems in a manner that protects the

legitimate expectations of the holders of junior interests, while at the same time denying them the ability to veto workouts or other flexible restructuring arrangements between mortgagors and senior lenders.” See Id. Simply put, junior mortgagees do not have veto authority on a financing transaction between a senior mortgagee and its borrower. The junior mortgagee’s position should not materially worsen due to the transaction, but the senior mortgagee will retain priority to the extent of the replaced mortgage.

Additionally, if the original mortgage puts language in the public record that demonstrates the senior mortgagors ability to increase the amount secured by its current or future loans, then the intervening lienholder is on notice that the senior debt can increase and should temper its lending decisions accordingly. See Reporters’ Note, cmt. d, Restatement (Third) of Property (Mortgages) § 7.3 (1997).

b. SOUTH CAROLINA LAW SUPPORTS THE DOCTRINE OF REPLACEMENT MORTGAGE.

South Carolina case law and common law support the doctrine of Replacement Mortgage. Additionally, Replacement Mortgage has been favored and ordered in the Circuit Courts of this State.

1. South Carolina Appellate Court holdings support the doctrine of Replacement Mortgage.

The South Carolina Supreme Court applied the Restatement (Third) of Property (Mortgages) Section 7.6 in its majority opinion in Matrix. This Restatement section recognizes an equitable doctrine known as equitable subrogation, which is an exception to the race notice statute that typically determines priority by the earlier date of recording. Restatement (Third) of Property (Mortgages) § 7.6 (1997). Much like Replacement Mortgage, Section 7.6 allows a refinancing

lender that is different from the original senior mortgagee to retain its priority to the extent the subrogee pays off the prior mortgage. See Id.

Prior to the Restatement (Third), many states allowed the same lender to refinance its own mortgage, including South Carolina, and retain priority through the doctrine of equitable subrogation. The Restatement opines that, for practical purposes and by definition, a lender cannot be subrogated to itself. Therefore, the commentators conclude that Replacement Mortgage is the more appropriate doctrine for a mortgagee to retain priority through a new loan that pays off its own prior loan. Restatement (Third) of Property (Mortgages) § 7.6 (1997).

Seeing no practical difference other than the titles of these two theories, some states still allow a lender to refinance its own mortgage and retain priority over junior mortgagees under the title of equitable subrogation. However, following the guidance of the Restatement (Third) commentators, South Carolina's Supreme Court in Matrix opted to follow the Restatement (Third) of Property (Mortgages) § 7.6 while acknowledging the Restatement (Third) of Property (Mortgages) § 7.3 that discusses Replacement Mortgage. The Matrix majority alludes to the Replacement Mortgage theory in dicta but does not make a ruling based on the principle because "Matrix is not asserting priority under a theory of replacement and modification." See Id. 394 S.C at 138, 714 S.E.2d at 534.

In discerning the logic of the majority with regard to Replacement Mortgage, the dissenting opinion of Justice Pleicones sheds light on the majority's seeming propensity to favor Replacement Mortgage in South Carolina. "It appears that the majority would agree with me that a refinancer has a right to lien priority, if that refinancer uses the theory of 'replacement and modification' rather than equitable subrogation. Heretofore, South Carolina has used the doctrine of equitable subrogation to restore a refinancer's lien to priority, and I would not reverse this because (Matrix)

used this theory rather than the newly announced ‘replacement and modification’ rule.” Matrix, 394 S.C. at 141, 714 S.E.2d at 535-36 (emphasis added). While the majority did not, admittedly, specifically announce a new rule in its opinion, Justice Pleicones clearly received the impression that the majority favors Replacement Mortgage and would adopt it with the appropriate procedural backdrop.

Recognizing U.S. Bank’s priority here: (a) reduces foreclosures and facilitates refinancing, (b) reduces title insurances premiums, (c) establishes that our Courts do, in fact, recognize replacement mortgage theory, and (d) accomplishes the equitable maxim that no one (ArrowPointe) should be enriched by another’s loss. See Matrix, 394 S.C. 134, 714 S.E.2d 532; see also, Sovereign Bank v. Gillis, 432 N.J. Super. 36, 48, 74 A.3d 1, 8 (N.J. Supr. Ct. App. Div. 2013).

“The purpose of subrogation (replacement here) is to prevent a junior lien holder from converting the mistake of the lender into a magical gift for himself.” Matrix, (Pleicones, J., dissenting) (citing United States v. Baran, 996 F.2d 25 (2nd Cir. 1993) (parenthetical added)). Here, the mistake would seemingly be Quicken’s failure to locate the publicly recorded Revolving Credit Mortgage and ask ArrowPointe for a legal subordination document. Restatement § 7.3 does not require, and actually denounces, such a request from a junior lienholder. Further, equitable principles excuse a title abstracting oversight and allow the senior mortgagee to retain its priority. Quicken did obtain a sworn affidavit from the Baileys that no lien such as the Revolving Credit Mortgage existed [Joint Stipulation 17 and Exhibit K of the Joint Stipulation]. Even if Quicken had actual knowledge of the Revolving Credit Mortgage, which it did not [Joint Stipulation 17], the Restatement (Third) of Property (Mortgages) § 7.3 does not require ArrowPointe’s permission or allow ArrowPointe “the ability to veto workouts or other flexible restructuring arrangements

between mortgagors and senior lenders.” See Restatement (Third) of Property (Mortgages) § 7.3 (1997), cmt. a; see also, Sovereign Bank, 966 F.2d 25.

ArrowPointe should not receive a magical gift. The equitable principles espoused in the Restatement (Third) of Property regarding Replacement Mortgages should be applied here in order to establish the priority of the Replacement Mortgage.

2. Common law principles in South Carolina support the doctrine of Replacement Mortgage.

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