THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FAIRFIELD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Carol A. Tolen, Special Referee
Trial Court Case No. 2012-CP-20-00132

RECEIVED

JUL 18 2018

Appellate Case No. 2018-000230 **SC Court of Appeals**

ArrowPointe Federal Credit Union, Respondent,

v.

Jimmy Eugene Bailey; Laura Jean Bailey; and U.S. Bank National Association not in its individual capacity but solely in its capacity as Indenture Trustee for WVUE 2015-1, Defendants,

Of which U.S. Bank National Association not in its individual capacity but solely in its capacity as Indenture Trustee for WVUE 2015-1 is the Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Christy C. Jones

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

ARGUMENTS

I. **THE SPECIAL REFEREE PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE MORTGAGE THAT WAS RECORDED FIRST IS ENTITLED TO PRIORITY OVER ANY MORTGAGE THAT IS LATER RECORDED.**

The instant dispute is over which mortgage loan has priority: Respondent Mortgage (as found by the lower court) or Appellant Mortgage 2 (as urged in this appeal). The lower court concluded that Respondent Mortgage has priority over Appellant Mortgage 2 because the mortgage for the Respondent Mortgage was recorded before the mortgage for Appellant Mortgage 2. (R. pp. 5-7). Statutory law holds that the priority of mortgages is determined by the time at which those mortgages are filed of record with the Register of Deeds or Clerk of Court. S.C. Code Ann. §30-7-10.

All deeds of conveyance of lands; . . . all mortgages or instruments in writing in the nature of a mortgage of any real property, . . . all assignments, satisfactions, releases, and contracts in the nature of subordinations, waivers, . . . or other liens on real property created by law or by agreement of the parties and generally all instruments in writing conveying an interest in real estate required by law to be recorded in the office of the register of deeds or clerk of court in those counties where the office of the register of deeds has been abolished . . . are valid so as to affect the rights of subsequent creditors (whether lien creditors or simple contract creditors), . . . only from the day and hour when they are recorded in the office of the register of deeds or clerk of court of the county in which the real property affected is situated. In the case of a . . . subsequent lien creditor on real estate for valuable consideration without notice, the instrument evidencing the subsequent conveyance or subsequent lien must be filed for record in order for its holder to claim under this section as a subsequent creditor or purchaser for value without notice, and the priority is determined by the time of filing for record.

S.C. CODE ANN. § 30-7-10 (1976) (emphasis added).

Thus South Carolina law clearly provides that the first mortgage creditor to record its interest puts others on notice of its interest in the real property as of the date and time the first mortgage creditor recorded the mortgage. Johnson v. Keel, 147 S.C. 259, 145

S.E. 113, 115 (1928). “This statute indicates our recording act is a race-notice act which will provide protection to a subsequent purchaser or creditor provided he records first.” MI Co., Ltd. v. McLean, 325 S.C. 616, 626, 482 S.E.2d 597, 602 (Ct. App. 1996). Priority is determined by the time of filing for record, and competing creditors are said to race to the courthouse. Id.

Here, Respondent recorded its Mortgage on November 4, 2009. (R. p. 297, ¶ 12). Appellant recorded Appellant Mortgage 2 on December 15, 2009. (R. p. 299, ¶ 18). The Respondent was first in line, and based upon South Carolina law, first in right. The Appellant was on notice of Respondent’s mortgage when it closed its Appellant Mortgage 2. (R. 298, ¶ 17). See Leasing Enter. Inc. v. Livingston, 294 S.C. 204, 207, 363 S.E.2d 410, 412 (Ct. App. 1987). “[R]ecording is the method by which a third party without actual notice is alerted to the possible transfer of interests in real property.” Id.

Respondent is entitled to priority over the Appellant Mortgage 2 because its mortgage is recorded first. When Appellant engaged in a new loan transaction with Borrowers, lending additional funds (R. p. 399, line 1600), cashing out equity (R. p. 399, line 1604), and satisfying Appellant Mortgage 1 (R. p. 399, line 1520), it lost its priority and is now in second position. Appellant was on notice of the Respondent Mortgage through filing and cannot now complain about the result of its own actions. (R. 298, ¶ 17).

Replacement Mortgage

Realizing the loss of priority with the new transaction, Appellant argues that Appellant Mortgage 2 replaced Appellant Mortgage 1, and that it should assume the recording date of Appellant Mortgage 1. Appellant urges that Appellant Mortgage 2 is a replacement mortgage, and that intervening lienholders such as Respondent are not

entitled to the statutory priority granted according to the date that the competing mortgages are recorded. This is not the law of South Carolina.

a. SOUTH CAROLINA LAW DOES NOT SUPPORT THE DOCTRINE OF REPLACEMENT MORTGAGE

Attempting to cobble together support in South Carolina case law for the novel theory advanced, Appellant argues that dicta in the majority opinion Matrix as well as the dissent support the replacement mortgage theory. Matrix Financial Serv. Corp. v. Frazer, 394 S.C. 134, 714 S.E.2d 532 (2011). On the contrary, the only reference to the concept of replacement mortgage in Matrix is that such theory was not advanced before the trial court. Id. at 138, 714 S.E.2d at 534. Conversely, Matrix stands for the proposition that a creditor claiming refinance of its own debt cannot be equitably subrogated. Id. When reviewing the context of Matrix's tangential mention of replacement mortgage, it becomes clear that the case does not stand for the proposition that the theory of replacement mortgage has been, or should be, adopted in South Carolina.

In fact, the main focus of Matrix is to emphasize the importance of lenders hiring South Carolina lawyers to properly oversee the mortgage loan closing process so that disputes such as the instant dispute will be avoided, and the Court warns lenders to take seriously the steps outlined in a real estate closing and properly search title for prior liens. Id. at 139, 714 S.E.2d at 534. Errors made by Appellant, or Appellant's counsel, should not give rise to new legal theories in South Carolina that erode established statutory authority. (R. p. 298, ¶ 17).

The Court in Matrix does not rely on the Restatement (Third) of Property (Mortgages) § 7.6 in deciding against applying equitable subrogation to those facts. The

Matrix Court relied on prior case law, specifically Dedes v. Strickland to apply the elements of equitable subrogation. Dedes v. Strickland, 307 S.C. 155, 414 S.E.2d 134 (1992). Indeed, equitable subrogation is part of South Carolina's common law and is discussed in numerous cases in South Carolina involving mortgages. Independence Nat'l Bank v. Buncombe Prof'l Park, LLC, 411 S.C. 605, 769 S.E.2d 663 (2015); Langehans v. Smith, 347 S.C. 348, 554 S.E.2d 681 (Ct. App. 2001); United Carolina Bank v. Caroprop, Ltd., 311 S.C. 376, 429 S.E.2d 197 (Ct. App. 1987); Dodge City of Spartanburg, Inc. v. Jones, 317 S.C. 491, 454 S.E.2d 918 (Ct. App. 1994). Matrix does not demonstrate the Court's willingness to adopt the Restatement; rather it demonstrates the Court's deference to the common law.

In both the majority and the dissent of Matrix, the phrase "replacement and modification" is repeated five separate times. Matrix Financial Serv. Corp. v. Frazer, 394 S.C. 134, 714 S.E.2d 532 (2011). In fact, the term "replacement" is not used anywhere in the case without "and modification" being used right after. Id. Placing these two terms together constantly is important, especially to the real estate practitioner in South Carolina. A modification is different than a refinance, as a modification does not advance cash out to the borrower. See Crawford v. Cent. Mortg. Co., 404 S.C. 39, 41, 744 S.E.2d 538, 539 (2013).

When creditors and borrowers enter into a modification, it is commonly as a result of foreclosure intervention. See Crawford v. Cent. Mortg. Co., 404 S.C. 39, 744 S.E.2d 538 (2013). A new loan is not closed, and the existing debt is not extinguished. Id. An attorney is not required to be present at the "closing" of a modification, but an attorney must be present at the closing of a refinance. Id. Doe v. McMaster, 355 S.C. 306, 585

S.E.2d 773 (2003). The prior loan is not satisfied with a modification. It retains its original priority because there is no change in terms that would materially prejudice intervening lenders. Nothing in Crawford or Matrix supports the position we have here where a new loan obligation, with a cash out payment to the borrower, should take the priority of an earlier, satisfied mortgage.

For the Special Referee to ignore this State's race-notice statute and fashion a new remedy out of the Restatement would be have been error. "It is well known that equity follows the law." Regions Bank v. Wingard Props. Inc., 394 S.C. 241, 249, 715 S.E.2d 348, 353 (Ct. App. 2011) quoting Smith v. Barr, 375 S.C. 157, 164, 650 S.E.2d 486, 490 (Ct. App. 2007). "When providing an equitable remedy, the court may not ignore statutes, rules, and other precedent." Regions at 254, at 715 S.E.2d at 355. South Carolina's race-notice statute applies and settles this issue; therefore it would have been error for the Special Referee to craft an equitable relief based on secondary sources.

Equity will not protect a party that did not take the time to protect itself. See O'Keefe v. Rice, 8 S.C. Eq. 179 (1831). Equitable relief will not be employed when a party fails to properly do what ought to be done. See Kennerty v. Etiwan Phosphate Co., 21 S.C. 226 (1884). Here, the Appellant failed to conduct a thorough, accurate title examination and act accordingly to protect its interests. (R. p. 298, ¶ 17).

If the advanced replacement mortgage theory is adopted as it relates to refinances, with cash payouts, a title search becomes unnecessary. If the replacement mortgage theory is adopted, the major steps an attorney must take in a mortgage loan closing in South Carolina would not have been set out in Buyers Services, and reiterated time and again in other cases. State v. Buyers Serv. Co., 292 S.C. 426, 357 S.E.2d 15 (1987);

Wachovia Bank v. Coffey, 389 S.C. 68, 698 S.E.2d 244 (Ct. App. 2010); Doe v. McMaster, 355 S.C. 306, 585 S.E.2d 773 (2003). If the replacement mortgage theory advanced is adopted, South Carolina Code Annotated Section 30-7-10 becomes meaningless. This cannot be the case.

Buyers Services states that one of the things that an attorney does when closing a mortgage loan secured by real property is search the title of the real property. Buyers Services at 429, at 357 S.E.2d at 17. This would not be a requirement if Appellant's replacement mortgage theory is adopted. Using Appellant's argument, lenders with closed-end mortgages could advance additional funds without the need for a title examination, to the detriment of intervening lienholders. If the Court accepts the theory of replacement mortgage, especially as it would apply to cash-out refinances, such a holding would not only eliminate customary procedures of real estate practitioners such as title examinations, but it would also erode the holdings of the Buyers Services line of cases.

The use in Matrix of the phrase "replacement and modification" together, in conjunction with the Crawford Court's definition of modification, show that if adopted, replacement mortgage theory should only be used with regard to true loan modifications, which by definition do not satisfy or cancel the original mortgage or cash-out funds to borrowers. Long-standing equitable maxims show that equity will not fashion a remedy when a statute such as the race-notice statute already addresses the dispute. Further, the Buyers Services line of cases show the importance of a title search in South Carolina, which would be completely undermined if replacement mortgage theory is adopted.

b. SOUTH CAROLINA'S CIRCUIT COURT DECISION IS UNDER DIFFERENT FACTS

Appellant cites to a single Circuit Court case in South Carolina as support for the theory of replacement mortgage, CBC Nat. Bank v. Miller, 2015-CP-07-02081 (January 19, 2017), which shows the lack of authority for the proposition. Furthermore, “unpublished orders [from the Appellate Courts] have no precedential value and should not be cited except in proceedings in which they are directly involved.” South Carolina Appellate Court Rules: Rule 268(d)(2), SCACR. The referenced case, however, is not from an Appellate Court; it is from a lower court and bears no guidance in the instant matter. Beyond this, however, the one trial court case Appellant relies upon has different facts than the instant case. In the case out of Beaufort County cited by Appellant, the replacement loan actually was for a smaller loan amount than the replaced mortgage. CBC Nat. Bank v. Miller, 2015-CP-07-02081 (January 19, 2017). In the instant case, the loan is for \$39,500.00 more (R. p. 313, ¶ E- p. 373, ¶ E), and the Borrowers took cash out in the amount of \$26,235.11: (R. p. 399, line 1604).

Also, in the Beaufort case, the intervening creditor was a judgment creditor, not a mortgage creditor. Id. Mortgage creditors, as opposed to judgment creditors, make decisions to approve or deny second mortgage loans based on loan-to-value ratios determined by a thorough title search. (R. p. 212, lines 11-14). The Beaufort intervening creditor being a judgment lien holder was not influenced in its decision to obtain a judgment against the borrower according to the amount of an existing mortgage loan. If anything, the case out of Beaufort County shows that Appellant’s predecessor-in-interest, Quicken, is not in the habit of conducting thorough title searches, or more troubling, does not address intervening lienholders at all.

c. RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF PROPERTY (MORTGAGES) IS INAPPLICABLE TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE

The theory of replacement mortgage is espoused not in the case law or statutory law of South Carolina, but in the Restatement (Third) of Property (Mortgages). According to the Restatement, a replacement mortgage can retain the original priority of the mortgage that is being replaced, except to the extent that the replacement mortgage changes the terms of the original mortgage or if the replacement mortgage is materially prejudicial to any existing subordinate lienholders. Restatement (Third) of Property; Mortgages § 7.3.

According to the secondary source that Appellant is urging the Court to adopt, there are two instances in which the replacement mortgage theory must fail. First, to the extent that the terms of the second mortgage are different than the terms of the first mortgage, the replacement mortgage cannot retain the priority of the first mortgage. Id. Second, if the replacement mortgage is materially prejudicial to intervening lienholders, the prejudicial replacement mortgage cannot retain the priority of the first mortgage. Id. These two exceptions will be addressed in Argument III, infra.

The commentary to this provision suggests that public policy favors workouts and flexible restructuring to benefit current borrowers. Restatement (Third) of Property; Mortgages § 7.3. However, in this case, Appellant Mortgage 2 did not result in more favorable terms to the Borrowers. On the contrary, the Borrowers cashed out supposed equity in the amount of \$26,235.11 (R. p. 399, line 1604), paid closing costs in excess of \$12,000.00 (R. p. 399, line 1400), which only served to increase the amount that they owed by \$39,500.00 (R. p. 313, ¶ E- p. 373, ¶ E) and made their eventual default more likely. These are not the hallmarks of a workout loan.

This Court can encourage lenders to work with delinquent borrowers and continue to decline to adopt the theory of replacement mortgage. If replacement mortgage theory is not adopted, lenders will continue to have at their disposal the ability to modify mortgage loans with delinquent borrowers without worrying about preserving priority or needing approval of subsequent lienholders. Lenders will simply need to modify existing mortgage loans in such a way to avoid materially prejudicing subsequent lienholders' interests. Lenders will continue to be able to reduce the interest rate, reduce payment amounts, and reduce principal amounts. See Crawford v. Cent. Mortg. Co., 404 S.C. 39, 744 S.E.2d 538 (2013). The advanced theory does not advance public policy in South Carolina.

d. OTHER JURISDICTIONS HAVE DIFFERENT STATUTES AND A DIFFERENT DEVELOPMENT OF COMMON LAW

Appellant urges the Court to extend the current state of the law by listing other jurisdictions that would favor Appellant's desired result. Sovereign Bank v. Gillis, 432 N.J. Super 36, 74 A.3d 1 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 2013). The case out of New Jersey is distinguishable in that New Jersey has statutory provisions specifically addressing the priority of mortgages after a modification. The South Carolina legislature has not seen fit to do so and instead seems to be comfortable with the uncomplicated race-notice statute, with exception only by equitable subrogation, as espoused in a long line of cases.

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